FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/12/2023 3:57 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 83886-5

CITY OF SAMMAMISH, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN TITCOMB, JR. and LINDE R. BEHRINGER, husband and wife, and the marital community comprised thereof, and KING COUNTY,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

FOSTER GARVEY PC Kinnon W. Williams, WSBA No. 16201 Adrian Urquhart Winder, WSBA No. 38071 Andrea L. Bradford, WSBA No. 45748 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: (206) 447-4400 Attorneys for Petitioners John Titcomb, Jr. and Linde R. Behringer

I. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns the City of Sammamish's belated effort to recharacterize a fish passage project as a stormwater project to avoid statutory prohibitions on condemnation. Although cities are delegated the authority to condemn private property for many types of public projects, salmon habitat recovery and fish passage are not among them. Accordingly, the superior court properly rejected the City's attempt to condemn Petitioners' property for the George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project.

The Court of Appeals' published decision ignores a record replete with evidence that the driving purpose of the George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project was to promote fish passage. The City's own request for proposals stated just one purpose for the project: "to remove several fish passage barriers and make George Davis Creek fish passable from the creek mouth at Lake Sammamish to a mile upstream of East Lake Sammamish Parkway." CP 515. Stormwater mitigation was not even mentioned. *Id*.

The City does not dispute that the Salmon Recovery Act prohibits condemnation for fish passage projects, or that the project is utilizing funding that prohibits use of condemnation. The Court of Appeals sidestepped these issues, however, as "not relevant to this appeal." Opinion at 11. In doing so, the Court disregarded its obligation to ensure that the City's exercise of the power of eminent domain was authorized.

The City's project did not become about stormwater until the City encountered difficulties acquiring the property rights it sought from Petitioners. Voluntary acquisition is what salmon recovery projects require under state law. By voluntarily choosing to use salmon recovery grant funding that prohibits condemnation, the City voluntarily chose to forego any ability it may otherwise have had to use eminent domain.

The Court of Appeals' decision allows the City to override this statutory and regulatory scheme prohibiting condemnation for salmon recovery projects by simply saying in its condemnation ordinance that the acquisition is for stormwater, rendering these prohibitions entirely meaningless. As the superior court correctly concluded, the City had no authority to initiate these condemnation proceedings.

Because of the significant constitutional question of substantial interest to the public presented, as well as the conflict created between the Court of Appeals' decision and decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners John Titcomb Jr. and Linde R. Behringer (collectively, "Titcomb") own property in the City of Sammamish that the City seeks to condemn. Titcomb seeks review of the published opinion of Division I of the Court of Appeals, *City of Sammamish v. Titcomb*, No. 83886-5-I, 2023 WL 2473120 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 13, 2023) ("Opinion"), provided as Appendix A to this Petition.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The City's George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project was developed as a salmon recovery project and utilizes funding designed for fish passage projects. The statutory authority for condemnation cited by the City, RCW 8.12.030, does not authorize eminent domain for salmon recovery or fish passage. Further, the Salmon Recovery Act, Chapter 77.85 RCW, prohibits condemnation for salmon recovery projects, and the City is using grant funding that cannot be used for projects involving condemnation, WAC 420-12-090. Should the court defer to the City's mere recitation of purpose in the condemnation ordinance despite its inconsistency with the project's history and funding, which establish that Petitioners' property is being condemned for fish passage?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. George Davis Creek

This case involves a City project impacting George Davis

Creek, a tributary of Lake Sammamish flowing through

Titcomb's property and into Lake Sammamish. CP 365. The Creek is home to multiple species of salmonids and countless riparian wildlife species, including kokanee salmon. CP 508.

Over the years, urban development has created barriers to salmon passage along the Creek's run. The City built East Lake Sammamish Parkway through the Creek, with the associated culvert falling "far short of meeting Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) design standards for fish passage." CP 375. In 1995, King County constructed a fish-impassible high-flow bypass diversion structure 500 feet upstream of the mouth. *Id*.

The Creek also ran beneath Titcomb's original 1920s home; north of Titcomb's home, the Creek runs through a channel and piping on property to the north. CP 365, 394, 534.

B. Titcomb's Restoration Work

Titcomb purchased their home on the Creek in 1985. CP 365. They have been long-time stewards and protectors of the Creek and its fish. CP 354–67, 508. Ms. Behringer is an

active member of the Kokanee Work Group, a regional collaborative group focused on restoring kokanee runs within Lake Sammamish. CP 508. She and Mr. Titcomb have devoted substantial time and financial resources to salmon recovery on and around their property. CP 364–67, 508–09.

In 2008, Titcomb partnered with federal, state, and local stakeholders to receive authorization to replace their existing house while undertaking a significant restoration effort to promote fish passage and habitat restoration for the section of the Creek on their property. CP 366–67, 508–09. Titcomb's project is permitted under a Joint Aquatic Resources Permit Application (JARPA), which involves streamlined permitting across multiple federal and state jurisdictions. CP 367, 472.

The project improved overall conditions for salmon. CP 455–56, 463. Titcomb removed the barriers to fish passage on their property, and created a restored riparian environment using native vegetation to facilitate maximal habitat efficacy. CP 366–67, 508–09. Titcomb personally spent nearly \$400,000 on

these stream restoration efforts, which has included multiple monitoring reports to the City. *Id*. The City has acknowledged that Titcomb's section of the Creek is the only portion currently able to facilitate salmon runs and that Titcomb made the Creek on their property "fish passable in 2009." CP 537.

C. The George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project

In the years following Titcomb's restoration work, the City and others acknowledged that the City's and King County's barriers to fish passage along the Creek were contributing significantly to historically low kokanee salmon runs. CP 536–41; see CP 365–66. The City began efforts to remove its barriers, including a culvert under East Lake Sammamish Parkway and a low concrete dam (weir) located about 400 feet further upstream. See CP 516–17, 524, 536–38. A fish barrier also existed on the Sigmar property adjacent to Titcomb's, where the Creek was buried in a failing 2-foot diameter galvanized pipe before the Creek reached Titcomb's property. CP 365, 368, 534.

In 2018, Sammamish issued a Request for Proposals for the George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project. CP 515. The sole stated purpose of the Project was "to remove several fish passage barriers and make George Davis Creek fish passable from the creek mouth at Lake Sammamish to a mile upstream of East Lake Sammamish Parkway." CP 515 (emphasis added). The Project was slated to be broken into two phases. involved a preliminary study, identification of alternatives, and and/or partnerships "property acquisition, with homeowners"; the second entailed final development of the project plans, specifications, and estimate. *Id.* The City's RFP makes no reference to any need to mitigate against stormwater flows. Id.

The City pursued multiple sources of funding for the Project, including state grants for salmon recovery and associated fish barrier removal. Salmon recovery funding opportunities are coordinated through the State Recreation and Conservation Office ("RCO"), its boards, and partners. *See, e.g.*,

RCW 77.85.030(5); RCW 77.85.120; RCW 77.95.160; The City Council passed a resolution RCW 77.95.170. authorizing the City to apply for an RCO grant through the Brian Abbott Fish Barrier Removal Board, which ultimately authorized up to \$722,350 for the Project. CP 543, 616–18, 640–57, 864, 870. These funds have been applied toward the Project. CP 640– The City's Project Agreement with the RCO regarding 43. receipt of these funds binds the City to the RCO manual which requires the City to obtain agreement from any private landowners. See CP 642–43 (contract referencing RCO Manual 22); CP 603–07 & 558 (Manual 22 providing that landowner approval required and appendices providing form agreement). The goal of the project stated in the grant application was straightforward: "to support the recovery of Lake Sammamish kokanee salmon and benefit other salmonids by restoring access to high quality spawning habitat that is currently inaccessible." CP 538.

Similarly, in its 2019 application for Conservation Futures

Tax Levy Funds to acquire the neighboring Sigmar property
(where Titcomb's water is to be diverted), the City stated that the
George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project was "a critical project

to restore fish passage." CP 621 (emphasis added). The City
acknowledged its planning documents did not identify any
property acquisition, but that the Project "cannot be completed

to meet current fish passage standards without acquiring
property." CP 626 (emphasis added). The stated planned use of
the adjacent Sigmar property is "habitat restoration, passive
recreation, and research" (not stormwater facilities). CP 627.

The acquisition of property was consistently identified as a necessary element of the fish passage improvements not, as the City now contends, part of stormwater facilities.

D. Property Negotiations and Condemnation Ordinance

For the downstream portion of the Project, the City entered into discussions with Titcomb and the owners of the neighboring

property (Sigmar). CP 368. The Sigmars agreed to sell their property to the City for \$3.927 million. CP 627.

During negotiations with Titcomb, the City assured them that it would not condemn their property rights, and that the Creek would remain on their property. CP 368–69. Titcomb worked in good faith to reach a fair settlement and were willing to complete further remodeling of their home if needed for the Project. CP 367–69. Discussions broke down after the City determined to relocate the Creek entirely from Titcomb's property to the Sigmar property and the City's valuation process failed to properly value the Creek to Titcomb's property. CP 368–69.

A year later, in March 2021, the City passed an ordinance authorizing condemnation of portions of the Creek for the "George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project." CP 5. For the first time, the City stated the purpose of the project was for stormwater management, even though the substantive nature of the project discussed with Titcomb had not changed. *Id.* The

Ordinance continued to acknowledge the fish passage purpose of the project. *Id.* at 5–6 (noting "City 'should begin prioritizing culverts for removal and replacement for fish passage, and to benefit Lake Sammamish kokanee salmon."").

E. Condemnation Proceedings

The City filed its condemnation petition on July 21, 2021, seeking "all property rights in the water flowing from George Davis Creek necessary for the George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project." CP 1. The City moved for an order adjudicating public use and necessity. CP 345.

The superior court heard argument on January 12, 2022, and took the case under advisement. VRP 34. One month later, the court issued its decision, denying the City's motion for public use and necessity and dismissing the condemnation action with prejudice. CP 704. The City filed a motion for reconsideration and supplemental declaration. CP 709–54. The superior court denied the City's motion without asking Titcomb to respond. CP 755. The City appealed the superior court's decision. CP 847.

The Court of Appeals issued a published decision on March 13, 2023, reversing the superior court. The Court of Appeals' decision ignored the history of project and dismissed Petitioners' concerns as merely "assign[ing] great weight to the name of the Project." Opinion at 11 n.2. The Court also ignored the fact that grant funding under the Salmon Recovery Act cannot be used for condemnation purposes, stating "Disputed issues involving the expenditure of funds are not relevant to this appeal." Opinion at 11. The Court's opinion wholly failed to address Petitioners' argument that the City should not be permitted to subdivide the project to evade statutory limits on eminent domain. Respondents' Br. at 27.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The superior court correctly recognized that the City lacks statutory authority to condemn Titcomb's property. The Court of Appeals' decision, by contrast, gives unfettered discretion to recharacterize a project to evade statutory limits on eminent domain authority. The Court ignored the clear history of the

project—including the City's RFP, grant application, and funding received for the project—which establishes that the George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project is, in fact, a fish passage project. The Court of Appeals abdicated its judicial responsibility to ensure the exercise of the eminent domain authority was statutorily authorized. Its decision warrants review under all four criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Opinion Presents a Significant Constitutional Question And Question of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals' decision presents a significant constitutional question and a question of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (b)(4). The City's exercise of eminent domain authority is constrained by the constitution and state statutes. Ensuring the power of eminent domain is properly exercised is a matter greatly impacting the public interest. Municipalities do not have authority to disregard the nature of a project and recharacterize it to evade statutory limits on condemnation. The Court of Appeals erred in holding otherwise.

Whether a municipal corporation has authority to condemn is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. WR-SRI 120th N. LLC*, 191 Wn.2d 223, 233, 422 P.3d 891 (2018). Our state constitution expressly envisions a judicial role to ensure the power of eminent domain is properly exercised. WASH. CONST. art. I, § 16 (question of whether property properly condemned for public use "shall be a judicial question.").

The power of eminent domain "is limited by the constitution and must be exercised under lawful procedures." *Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller*, 156 Wn.2d 403, 410, 128 P.3d 588 (2006); WASH. CONST. art. I, § 16 (prohibiting the taking of property for private use and requiring payment of just compensation for taking or damaging of property).

The state and the federal government are sovereign entities with inherent power to condemn. *State v. King County*, 74 Wn.2d 673, 675, 446 P.2d 193 (1968); 1A NICHOLS ON EMINENT

DOMAIN § 3.02 (2022) (eminent domain powers of federal and state government "inherent in the very notion of sovereignty").

The Opinion of the appellate court elevates the City to the same status as a sovereign. Municipal corporations like the City, however, may only exercise the power of eminent domain as expressly authorized by the legislature. City of Tacoma v. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d 677, 683, 399 P.2d 330 (1965). "As creatures of statute, municipal corporations possess only those powers conferred on them by the constitution, statutes, and their charters" and that authority "must derive from either an express grant or by necessary or fair implication from such a grant." City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers, 108 Wn.2d 679, 685–86, 743 P.2d 793 (1987) (internal quotations and citations omitted); see also Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Okanogan County v. State, 182 Wn.2d 519, 534, 342 P.3d 308 (2015) ("States may delegate these powers [of eminent domain] to municipal corporations and political subdivisions, but such delegated authority extends only so far as statutorily authorized.").

"[S]tatutes delegating the power of eminent domain to a political subdivision must be strictly construed." WR-SRI 120th N. LLC, 191 Wn.2d at 234. "Consequently, authority to condemn public property 'must be given in express terms or by necessary implication." Id. (quoting King County v. City of Seattle, 68 Wn.2d 688, 690, 414 P.2d 1016 (1966)). See, e.g., City of Kent v. Lamb, 1 Wn. App. 737, 742, 463 P.2d 661 (1969) (strictly construing statute granting eminent domain authority and concluding "street" is not a "boulevard").

The Court of Appeals' decision defers to the City Council of the City of Sammamish on a question of statutory authority to condemn. Opinion at 1, 9. But deference is not warranted on the threshold question of statutory authority presented by this case. See Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Okanogan County, 182 Wn.2d at 534 ("The scope of a municipal corporation's condemnation authority is therefore a matter of statutory interpretation, which we review de novo."); see also WASH. CONST. art. I, § 16 (question of public use in condemnation proceedings "shall be a

judicial question, and determined as such, without regard to any legislative assertion that the use is public"). In deferring wholesale to the City Council's characterization of the project, the Court of Appeals failed to fulfill its constitutionally required judicial role: to act as a gatekeeper and ensure the power of eminent domain is properly exercised.

Titcomb does not dispute that cities have statutory authority to condemn property for stormwater purposes, RCW 8.12.030, but as discussed above, the City's George Davis Creek Fish Passage Project has been a fish passage project since its inception. The City has attempted to recharacterize this project as a stormwater project—years after project planning efforts began and only after negotiations with Titcomb failed—because of the clear prohibition on condemnation under the Salmon Recovery Act, Chapter 77.85 RCW.

The Salmon Recovery Act "strictly forbids condemnation" for projects undertaken under that statute. Cowlitz County v. Martin, 142 Wn. App. 860, 177 P.3d 102 (2008); see also RCW 77.85.050(1)(a) ("no private landowner may be forced or coerced into participation in any respect" for projects on SRA habitat project list); RCW 77.85.010(3) (SRA projects must have written agreement from the landowner); WAC 420-12-090 (Recreation and Conservation Office administrative code provision providing that "board shall not approve any grant for proposals where the title to property is acquired through or as a direct result of condemnation proceedings. All acquisitions must be on a willing-seller basis." (emphasis added)).

The Opinion characterizes Titcomb's argument regarding the nature of the project as merely "assign[ing] great weight to the name of the Project." Opinion at 11 n.2. But it is not merely the name of the project that contradicts the City's assertion that the primary purpose of the project is related to stormwater. As outlined above, from the time the City issued its own Request for Proposals for the project, the City has consistently characterized the project as a fish passage project. *E.g.*, CP 621 (identifying

project as critical to "restore fish passage"); CP 515 (RFP identifying purpose as fish passage); CP 538 (grant application stating project's purpose is "to support the recovery of Lake Sammamish kokanee salmon"). The Opinion ignores the clear record in this case, consisting of documents created by the City, in which the City consistently stated the project is for fish passage purposes.¹

The Opinion also skirts the issue of funding under the SRA. The legislature has enacted fish passage barrier removal programs and grant funding through the Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO). RCW 77.95.160–.170. It is

¹ The Opinion also cites material in the record that the City submitted on reconsideration which Titcomb has not had a factual opportunity to rebut. CP 726–31 (Second Coenen Declaration); Opinion at 3 (quoting declaration at CP 727 for proposition that need to improve drainage "goes back decades") & 14 n. 3 (quoting declaration at CP 727 for proposition that project is "fundamentally a stormwater project"). *See also* CP 728 (discussing WAC 220-660-190 for first time); Opinion at 10 n. 1 (quoting Second Coenen Declaration at CP 728 and relying on WAC 220-660-190). At a minimum, the Court erred by denying Titcomb's request to remand for an evidentiary hearing. *See* Opinion at 14 n.4.

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