FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/12/2023 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1018941

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SAMMAMISH, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

VS.

JOHN TITCOMB, JR. and LINDE R. BEHRINGER, husband and wife, and the marital community comprised thereof; and KING COUNTY,

Petitioners.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Hillary J. Evans
WSBA No. 35784
Michael R. Kenyon
WSBA No. 15802
Kenyon Disend, PLLC
11 Front Street South
Issaquah, Washington 98027-3820
(425) 392-7090

Attorneys for Respondent City of Sammamish

# **

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

## VI. ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

In the Ordinance, the Sammamish City Council expressly declared that re-routing of the Creek located on the Titcomb Property was "necessary" for the Project. For many years in Washington, the law has been and remains that, in the absence of actual or constructive fraud, the City Council's decision of public necessity "will, by the courts, be deemed conclusive." <u>Tacoma v. Welcker</u>, 65 Wn.2d 677, 684, 399 P.2d 330 (1965).<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also, State ex rel. Wash. State Convention & Trade Ctr. v. Evans, 136 Wn.2d 811, 823, 966 P.2d 1252 (1998); Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller ("Sound Transit"), 156

Titcomb here objects to what they refer to as "recharacterization" of the Project from fish passage to stormwater, but they point to no actual or constructive fraud in the City Council's decision-making process.<sup>4</sup>

The Court of Appeals correctly noted the absence of any such fraud and ruled in the City's favor, consistent with long-standing appellate precedent. The Opinion comprehensively reviews and squarely applies the existing law of eminent domain in Washington. The Opinion impacts none of the review criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Opinion Describes and Recites Well Established Eminent Domain Law. No Significant Constitutional Question or Question of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented.

On pages 14 - 18, the Petition simply recites much of the well-established law of eminent domain on which the City relies and the Opinion adopts. For example, Titcomb argues that,

Wn.2d 403, 412, 128 P.3d 588 (2006) ("Out of respect for our coordinate branches of government, judicial review is deferential.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Opinion at 18-19.

"Ensuring the power of eminent domain is properly exercised is a matter greatly impacting the public interest" and that, "Whether a municipal corporation has authority to condemn is a question of law reviewed de novo."

The City agrees. In RCW 8.12.030, the Legislature expressly delegated to cities the power to condemn for stormwater improvements.<sup>5</sup> Titcomb admits as much here,<sup>6</sup> and likewise did so below.<sup>7</sup> The Opinion understandably notes, "It is well established that condemnation by municipalities for stormwater facilities constitutes a public use." Opinion at 14. The City Council properly exercised that power here.

Titcomb similarly argues at 17 that the Opinion defers to the City Council on the question of statutory authority to condemn. That is true, and true because—as Titcomb admits—

<sup>5</sup> See also <u>City of Bellevue v. Painter</u>, 58 Wn. App. 839, 842, 795 P.2d 174 (1990) (stormwater facilities are a public use as contemplated under RCW 8.12.030).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Petition at 18 ("Titcomb does not dispute that cities have statutory authority to condemn property for stormwater purposes, RCW 8.12.030, . . . .").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Opinion at 9.

the City Council in fact has the statutory authority to condemn for the stormwater improvements at issue here.

1. The additional benefits to fish passage do not invalidate an otherwise permissible condemnation of private property.

In the Petition at 18, Titcomb reveals their actual complaint. After conceding that the City has statutory authority to condemn for stormwater purposes, Titcomb suggests that the Project is actually a "fish passage project" and the "City has attempted to recharacterize this project as a stormwater project[.]" But the City Council made the decision here, not the "City," and the City Council did not base its condemnation authority in any salmon recovery or fish passage aspect of the Project, nor are those issues relevant to the adjudication of public use and necessity when private property is taken for stormwater uses.

The City Council's decision to condemn here is solidly based in the public use of stormwater improvements authorized by RCW 8.12.030. See, CP 5 – 12. As Titcomb again concedes,

"While it is true that the Ordinance condemning Titcomb's property does not cite the Salmon Recovery Act and instead cites the statute authorizing condemnation for stormwater purposes, . . . . " Petition at 29. The City Council's decision here is squarely based on the authority conferred by RCW 8.12.030. See Opinion at 12 – 13, fn. 3 ("Although it is the purpose articulated by the relevant legislative body that determines whether statutory authority for condemnation exists, we note that the record here, beyond the Ordinance, further supports the City's assertion that a primary purpose of the Project is to improve stormwater facilities.").

The City Council's determination was heavily supported by the record. See, Sections V.A. and B., supra. The City Council's decision is "deemed conclusive" on the courts in the absence of actual or constructive fraud. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d at 684. Titcomb offers no proof of any such fraud.<sup>8</sup>

<u>ر</u>

 $<sup>^8</sup>$  "Titcomb and Behringer nowhere assert that the City acted fraudulently or in an arbitrary and capricious manner; nor would the record support such an assertion." Opinion at 18 - 19.

The City readily acknowledges that the Project confers a public benefit of improved fish passage in addition to the stormwater and flood control improvements. Under state and federal law, the City Council could not have selected and approved the stormwater improvement Project unless it also included the fish passage improvements – removal of those barriers is required by state and federal law for these stream crossings. CP 728; WAC 220-660-190. As the Opinion makes clear, "That the Project additionally provides fish passage benefits does not divest the City of its authority, conferred by our legislature in RCW 8.12.030, to condemn property for stormwater facilities." Opinion at 9 –10; see City of Redmond v. Union Shares, L.L.C., 200 Wn. App. 1006, 2017 WL 3228340 (2017) (affirming trial court decision finding that the re-routing of a stream to enhance a public trail system, with an added benefit to salmon habitat, constitutes a public use).9

<sup>9</sup> Cited under GR 14.1 as a nonbinding but persuasive authority filed after March 1, 2013.

In constructing the Project, the City Council is required by law to improve fish passage for Kokanee salmon. Even if the City Council did have a questionable motive or even if the City Council did "recharacterize" the Project, however, the "motive" of a City Council is "of limited utility in determining whether the condemnor acted arbitrarily and capriciously." State v. Hutch, 30 Wn. App. 28, 37, 631 P.2d 1014 (1981). "Indeed, '[e]ven if the decision was partially motivated by improper considerations, it will not be vacated so long as 'the proposed condemnation demonstrates a genuine need and . . . the condemnor in fact intends to use the property for the avowed purpose." Opinion at 17, quoting Sound Transit, 156 Wn.2d at 418.

No proof of constructive fraud exists. The City Council's decision to divert the Creek from the Titcomb Property was squarely based on a desire to reduce or eliminate long-standing storm drainage conveyance system capacity issues, which will likewise improve traffic safety on an adjacent arterial by reducing hazardous flooding conditions. The City Council's

decision does not impact a significant question of constitutional law or any issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4).

2. The City is properly and permissibly expending Recreation and Conservation Office funds for purposes other than acquisition of the property.

The Ordinance specifies that compensation payable to Titcomb for the property will come from the City's stormwater capital fund or general fund.

After conceding that the City has express statutory authority to condemn for stormwater improvements and further conceding that the Ordinance cites that statute as the basis for this condemnation, Titcomb focuses on salmon recovery issues and certain funding provided to the City by the Recreation and Conservation Office ("RCO"). This focus is misplaced for at least two reasons:

1. Since the inception of this case, the City has framed the issue in this case as the adjudication of public use and necessity for the take of private property rights that the City Council deemed necessary for the public use of stormwater improvements. The City successfully appealed the trial court's

order denying a motion to adjudicate public use and necessity.<sup>10</sup> Titcomb offers no legal argument or analysis on that point; rather, Titcomb argues only that the City lacks statutory authority to condemn for *salmon recovery or fish passage* purposes. The City agrees and has never argued otherwise at any stage of this case.

Collateral issues related to the Salmon Recovery Act and RCO funding have been, and remain, Titcomb's issues, but those issues have been, and remain, wholly unrelated to public use and necessity. Because Titcomb concedes that the City has the authority to condemn for stormwater uses, this is not a case of statutory interpretation as Titcomb urges; and

2. Disputed issues involving expenditure of RCO funds are irrelevant to the issue on appeal here: the City's appeal of the

<sup>&</sup>quot;The City additionally asserts that condemnation of the Titcomb and Behringer property is for a public use and that acquisition of the property is necessary to accomplish that use. We agree. It is well established that condemnation by municipalities for stormwater facilities constitutes a public use." Opinion at 14.

adjudication of public use and necessity. To the extent that Titcomb wishes to continue an argument about funding sources and expenditures, their remedy is a declaratory judgment or writ action. Even in this record, however, the sole factual evidence proves that the City has and will expend RCO funds permissibly, and only on Project aspects other than property acquisition (CP 665). Titcomb cites to no contrary evidence.

For the actual acquisition of the Titcomb Property, the City Council expressly directed by Ordinance that the City use the Stormwater Enterprise Fund and General Fund revenue. CP 3 ("Compensation to be paid to the owners of the affected property . . . shall be paid from the City's Stormwater Enterprise Fund, and otherwise from the general funds of the City."); CP 670.

The <u>only</u> factual evidence in the record relating to funding proves that the City is not using RCO grant funding for property acquisition. CP 670 ("The City, however, is not using RCO funds for property acquisition."). The City has instead used the

RCO grant funds for design fees, as is specifically authorized under RCO Grant Manuals 5, 8, and 22. CP 670-71; see, Opinion at 11.

Titcomb offers no evidence nor binding authority to contradict the plain terms of the RCO Grant Manuals authorizing the expenditures made by the City or demonstrating that the City's use of RCO grants funds is in some manner impermissible. Titcomb instead suggests only that, "[C]ourts have rejected similar attempts to subdivide public projects in analogous circumstances." Petition at 24.

3. The City has not and will not improperly or otherwise "subdivide" the Project.

Titcomb is initially mistaken in the unsupported claim that "[i]t is impermissible to divide [Project] into multiple subprojects such as 'planning,' 'restoration,' and 'property acquisition." Petition at 25. To the contrary, the RCO Manuals specifically describe these various "sub-projects" and the manner in which they are to be processed. CP 670-71.

More fundamentally, however, the cases cited by Titcomb apply to the admittedly impermissible subdivision of public works projects under RCW 39.04 in order to avoid payment of prevailing wages required under RCW 39.12. The Project at issue here has not yet even been fully designed, let alone put out to competitive bid. Once the City bids the Project, and accepts a bid, the Project will then become a public works project and the City will of course ensure that the selected contractor pays prevailing wages.

A public works project is not yet part of the Project. This case involves expenditures for property acquisition, design, engineering, and other work necessary to create a public works project, and then put that public works project out to bid. RCW 39.04.020. Once the City accepts a bid, the City will pay prevailing wages as required by law. RCW 39.04.010(4); RCW 39.12.020.

# B. The Opinion is Fully Consistent with Supreme Court Precedent.

Titcomb offers <u>In re City of Seattle</u> ("<u>Westlake I</u>"), 96 Wn.2d 616, 627, 638 P.2d 549 (1981), to support their argument that the stormwater use cannot be separated from the fish passage benefits, and that the condemnation accordingly must fail. Petition at 26. <u>Westlake I</u>, however, breaks squarely in the City's favor and the Opinion remains consistent with the law of <u>Westlake I</u>.

In <u>Westlake I</u>, Seattle condemned all of the properties necessary for development of Westlake Center. The project included certain public uses (e.g., public park, public open space, public parking), but also included 186,000 square feet of retail and cinema uses. <u>Id.</u> at 621. The Supreme Court rejected this plan, finding that no statute existed which authorized condemnation of private property for retail and cinema uses, and concluded that the proposed use was "predominantly private, rather than public." <u>Id.</u> at 629.

Westlake I offers no support for Titcomb. As the Opinion makes clear, "we note that the record here, beyond the Ordinance, further supports the City's assertion that a primary purpose of the Project is to improve stormwater facilities." Opinion at 13, fn. 3. The express holding of Westlake I is simply and unremarkably that the exercise of municipal eminent domain authority "must be derived from an express legislative grant or necessarily implied." Id. at 632. The required "express legislative grant" for stormwater improvements is codified in RCW 8.12.030.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See also In Re Petition of City of Seattle ("Westlake II"), 104 Wn.2d 621, 624, 707 P.2d 1348 (1985) (on second review of the Westlake Center project, the Supreme Court affirmed Seattle's sale to a developer of parcels intended for retail shopping center and also Seattle's condemnation of a parcel for public park purposes over objection that the park was "so inseparable from and integral to" the private development that it could not be adjudicated a public use); In Re Petition of City of Bellevue, 62 Wn.2d 458, 459, 383 P. 2d 286 (1963) (condemnation permissible even though other private property owners will be benefited; "[t]hat someone is benefited by street improvements is not unusual").

A permissible stormwater condemnation is not rendered invalid because additional benefits required by state law result. In Evans, 136 Wn.2d 811, property owners contested the State's proposed expansion of the Washington Convention and Trade Center. The issues in Evans again involved the interpretation of "public use" in the context of a partial private use of the condemned property. Id. at 813-14. The property owners relied on Westlake I. The Evans court distinguished Westlake I on several grounds, including that "condemnation was improper in Westlake [I] because the project for which the land was to be condemned was predominantly private in nature." Id. at 820.

The public use of stormwater improvements and the further additional benefits of salmon recovery and enhanced fish passage are inextricably intertwined. No "predominantly private" aspect exists. The Project has long been and remains a stormwater project. CP 5 - 6, 32, and 727.

# C. The Opinion Is Also Fully Consistent With Published Decisions of the Court of Appeals.

In the trial court and in the Court of Appeals, Titcomb heavily relied on Cowlitz County v. Martin, 142 Wn. App. 860, 177 P.3d 102 (2008), to undercut the City's authority to condemn for stormwater improvements. The Martin case, however, is easily distinguishable – the Sammamish City Council specifically identified stormwater improvements as the necessary public use in the Ordinance. The Cowlitz County Commissioners failed to do so in Martin. Under those facts, the Martin decision was correctly decided and the Opinion remains consistent with the law in Martin.

In <u>Martin</u>, the County ordinance sought to condemn an easement for stream culvert replacement for the <u>sole</u> claimed public use of removing barriers to fish passage. <u>Martin</u>, 142 Wn. App. at 862–63. The County Prosecuting Attorney included stormwater improvements as an additional basis for condemnation in the condemnation petition. The stormwater

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